
1 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES of the meeting of the Electoral Provisions Sub-Committee held on 
Thursday 8 July 2021. 

 
PRESENT: 
 

 
 

 
ABSENT: 
 

 
 

 
 Dartford Borough Council Officers:- 

 
  –  

 
PRESENT TO RESPOND TO ISSUES RAISED BY THE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE: 

 
  –  

 
CABINET MEMBERS: 
 

Councillors  
 

 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
To receive declarations of Interest from Members including the term(s) of the 
Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or Strategic Director 
(Internal Services). 
 

3. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 5 
NOVEMBER 2020  
 

4. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES  
 

5. URGENT ITEMS  
 
The Chairman will announce whether there are any urgent items and their 
position on the Agenda. 
 
ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION IN PUBLIC  
 

6. REVIEW OF PARLIAMENTARY CONSTITUENCIES 2023  
 
This item was not available for circulation with the Agenda and will therefore 
be distributed under a separate cover. 
 

“TO FOLLOW” 
 
 

 



 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

The meeting closed at Time Not Specified 
 
  

 
 

Councillor J I Muckle 
CHAIRMAN 

 
 
 

(a) FIELD 
(b) FIELD_TITLE  



1 

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES of the meeting of the Electoral Provisions Sub-Committee held on 
Thursday 5 November 2020. 

 
PRESENT: 
 

Councillor Chris Shippam (Chairman) 
Councillor Romana Gosine 
Councillor Sacha Gosine 
Councillor Peter Harman 
Councillor Denzil J Reynolds 
Councillor Richard J Wells 
 

 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
The Chairman, Councillor Shippam, welcomed Members and Officers to the 
meeting and reported that there had been no apologies for absence received. 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest received. 
 

3. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 17 
OCTOBER 2018  
 
The Minutes of the Electoral Provisions sub – Committee held on 17 October 
2018 were confirmed as a correct record of that meeting. 
 

4. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES  
 
It was confirmed that there were no references from other Committees for the 
sub – committee to consider. 
 

5. URGENT ITEMS  
 
It was noted that there were no urgent items for the sub - Committee to 
consider. 
 

6. ANNUAL CANVASS  
 
The Electoral Services Manager reported verbally on current reforms to the 
Canvass process. 
 
She informed Members that Reform was introduced for the canvass taking 
place in this year to allow Electoral Registration Officers to have greater 
discretion in organising a process which better suited their local area; 
 
It was noted that in previous years, the Electoral Registration Officer sent a 
Household Enquiry Form (HEF) to every household in the borough.  Someone 
in the household was required to respond by completing the paper form, 

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

THURSDAY 5 NOVEMBER 2020 
 
 

2 

online, telephone or by text.  Any households which did not respond would 
receive a personal visit from a canvasser. 
 
It was explained that in the reformed process, Officers started the process by 
completing a data-matching exercise against information held by the 
Department of Work and Pensions and locally held data.  This allowed 
properties where the residents are more likely to have changed to be 
identified and to determine how such properties should be canvassed. 
 
Data matching was undertaken in July and the results were positive which 
allowed a significant number of properties being assigned to route one.  This 
meant that Officers were confident the information held on the Register of 
Electors was correct and the households did not have to take any action 
unless they needed to advise us of changes.   
 
For those households where data matching could not be confirmed, a 
combination of different forms and electronic communications has been used 
to encourage a response which is required for these properties. 
 
For properties still not responding, a visit by a Canvasser is still required, 
however the risks of this during the pandemic has been considered and a 
decision made not to send canvassers at this time.   
 
Officers are currently waiting to assess whether the reforms have enabled the 
creation of an accurate Register and what impact the pandemic has made on 
the process. 
 
Members noted the information provided. 
 

7. POLLING ARRANGEMENTS - 2021  
 
The Strategic Director (Internal Services) updated Members on the position of 
elections following legislation to delay the May 2020 elections and subsequent 
local authority by-elections and local referendums in England and the PCC 
elections, to May 2021. 
 
Members were informed that as a result of the challenges posed by the 
Covid-19 pandemic, a preliminary review of the current polling arrangements 
for the polls scheduled for 2021 had been undertaken to ensure that staff can 
work safely during the pandemic and that electors are able to comply with 
social distancing guidelines. 

It was noted that Officers had reviewed the suitability of all the polling places 
previously used considering such matters as:  

 whether the venues are spacious enough to enable social distancing,  

 if there are multiple entrances and exits to allow a one way system,  

 areas for electors to queue outside, and; 

 other relevant considerations, in line with current public health advice 
and government guidelines. 

Page 2Agenda Item 3



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

THURSDAY 5 NOVEMBER 2020 
 
 

3 

Arising from this review the sub – Committee received a schedule of polling 
places currently used showing their availability and suitability for use in 
forthcoming elections, together with details of substitute venues should those 
identified prove unavailable.   
 
The sub - Committee also received an assessment of the polling places from 
the (Acting) Returning Officer. 
 
Members raised concerns about the possible difficulties that could arise 
should postal vote applications greatly exceed current levels, but were 
reassured that the only problematic area could be the issuing of ballots should 
there be a huge influx of applications close to the closing date. 
 
The Sub Committee noted;  
 

1. The recommendations from the interim polling review set out in the 
report: and, 
 

2. That as and when guidance is received from Central Government, to 
note that further changes to these arrangements may be necessary. 

   

 
 

 
The meeting closed at 5.25 pm 

 
  

 
 
 
 

Councillor C Shippam 
CHAIRMAN 

 
 
 

Page 3 Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



                              

ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
8 JULY 2021 

 

REVIEW OF PARLIAMENTARY CONSTITUENCIES 2023 
 

 
1. Summary 

 

1.1 To consider the proposal from the Boundary Commission for England, for changes 
to the Dartford Constituency.  
 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1  That the Boundary Commission for England’s proposal as detailed in para. 

3.16 of the report be considered and that any comments to the proposal be 
referred to the General Assembly of Council to inform its response to the 
Boundary Commission for England.  

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1. On the 8 June 2021, the Boundary Commission for England (BCE), an 
independent and impartial non-departmental public body, published its 
initial proposals for the new parliamentary constituencies. The proposals 
set out to increase the overall number of constituencies in England and 
make them more equal in terms of the numbers of electors each 
contains.  

3.2. The 2023 Review of Parliamentary Constituencies was formally 
launched by the BCE in January 2021. Due to population changes since 
the last review, the number of electors in some constituencies is much 
higher than in others. 

3.3. The changes made in the 2020 Parliamentary Constituencies Act meant 
that the proposals in the 2018 review were not implemented. 

3.4. Kent, including Medway Council (a unitary authority), is mathematically 
entitled to 18.05 constituencies: its allocation of 18 constituencies is an 
increase of one. Ten of these constituencies have electorates within the 
permitted electorate range and the remaining seven constituencies are 
above the 5% limit. 

3.5. Currently, the Dartford Constituency takes in parts of Sevenoaks 
(Appendix A) for Parliamentary elections.  The initial 2023 proposal for 
the Dartford Constituency is that parts of Dartford - Darenth Ward and 
Wilmington, Sutton-at-Hone and Hawley Ward should move to 
Sevenoaks (Appendix B). 

3.6. An eight week consultation period has commenced, where the BCE is 
encouraging residents to give their views on the proposals. Residents 
can take part in the BCE’s survey and view maps showing the proposed 
new boundaries and provide feedback before the consultation closes on 
2 August 2021. People can comment on anything from where the 
proposed new boundary lines are, to the names of the constituencies. 

Page 5 Agenda Item 6

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/937209/PPN_08_20_Procurement_Policy_Note_Introduction_of_Find_a_Tender.pdf


                              

ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
8 JULY 2021 

 
There will be a further two rounds of consultation in 2022. Following the 
conclusion of all three consultation periods, the BCE will look at all the 
evidence received, before forming its final recommendations.   

3.7. The review timetable is as follows: - 

 

 

3.8. As the review is trying to equalise the number of electors, there are rules 
for the recommended size of constituency across the UK – apart from 
five specified exceptions. 

3.9. The BCE recommended size for each constituency is smaller than 
69,724 and no larger than 77,062: 

  

  

 

 

 

 

3.10. As at the 1 June 2021, the current Dartford Constituency (including the 
Sevenoaks element) has a Parliamentary electorate of 82,167 which is 
larger than the maximum permitted in the review. 

3.11. Registered Parliamentary electors within Dartford borough boundaries is 
currently 77,402.  Therefore, the Dartford Constituency cannot be 
coterminous with the borough boundary as originally proposed in the 
2018 review. 

77,402 

Page 6Agenda Item 6



                              

ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
8 JULY 2021 

 
3.12. As at the 1 June 2021, the Parliamentary electorate for the proposed 

area to be moved to Sevenoaks is as follows: 

Darenth Ward     1945 

Wilmington, Sutton-at-Hone & Hawley Ward 6070 

3.13. Whilst conducting the Local Government Boundary Review in 2018, it 
was identified that there would be significant growth in the Borough of 
Dartford and the forecasts undertaken at that time predicted that by 
2023, there would be 88,995 local electors in the Borough and it is likely 
that further changes will be needed when the BCE conduct a further 
review in eight years. 

3.14. Due to geographic factors, there are limitations which areas could be 
moved to a different constituency to meet the electorate threshold.  The 
west is bounded to a London authority and to the north, the River 
Thames which divides any local ties. 

3.15. Sevenoaks District and Gravesham Borough boundaries are the only 
neighbouring authorities which could be considered. 

3.16. The BCE comments on the initial proposals for the Kent sub-region state:  

“We consider that it would not be possible to retain the Sevenoaks, and 
Faversham and Mid Kent constituencies unchanged, due to their 
adjacency with existing constituencies now above the permitted 
electorate range. We propose that the Sevenoaks constituency include 
the Wilmington, Sutton-at-Hone & Hawley, and Darenth wards from 
Dartford district, creating a local authority crossing around the River 
Darent, which would also bring together the South Darenth community 
that crosses the current boundary. The Dartford constituency would 
therefore be located entirely within Dartford district, as it no longer needs 
to include the Hartley and Hodsoll Street ward.”1 

3.17. The review process is heavily informed by public consultation. In light of 
all the views expressed about these initial proposals, the BCE may 
revise them and then conduct a further round of written consultation on 
the revised proposals. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
Not applicable 

 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments* 
 

Financial Implications None 

Legal Implications None 

 

                                            
1 https://boundarycommissionforengland.independent.gov.uk/2023-review/south-east/initial-
proposals-for-new-parliamentary-constituency-boundaries-in-the-south-east-
region/page/5/#lg_initial-proposals-for-the-kent-sub-region  

Page 7 Agenda Item 6

https://boundarycommissionforengland.independent.gov.uk/2023-review/south-east/initial-proposals-for-new-parliamentary-constituency-boundaries-in-the-south-east-region/page/5/#lg_initial-proposals-for-the-kent-sub-region
https://boundarycommissionforengland.independent.gov.uk/2023-review/south-east/initial-proposals-for-new-parliamentary-constituency-boundaries-in-the-south-east-region/page/5/#lg_initial-proposals-for-the-kent-sub-region
https://boundarycommissionforengland.independent.gov.uk/2023-review/south-east/initial-proposals-for-new-parliamentary-constituency-boundaries-in-the-south-east-region/page/5/#lg_initial-proposals-for-the-kent-sub-region


                              

ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
8 JULY 2021 

 

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative 
Implications 

None  

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

 
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 

 Not applicable 
 

7. Appendices 
 

Appendix A – Current Parliamentary Constituency for Dartford 
Appendix B – BCE Proposed Parliamentary Constituency for Dartford 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
https://boundarycommissionfo
rengland.independent.gov.uk/
2023-review/  

08/06/21 Jeanette Pegler 
(01322) 343424 

Electoral 
Services/ 
Corporate 
Services 

N/A 

 
 
 

Page 8Agenda Item 6

https://boundarycommissionforengland.independent.gov.uk/2023-review/
https://boundarycommissionforengland.independent.gov.uk/2023-review/
https://boundarycommissionforengland.independent.gov.uk/2023-review/


@ A4°1:75,000

Y:\
Da

ta_
St

ore
\D

ep
art

me
nta

l_D
ata

\Le
ga

l_S
erv

ice
s\E

lec
tor

al_
Re

gis
tra

tio
n\P

arl
im

en
tar

y_
Bo

un
da

ry_
se

_2
02

1\P
arl

iam
en

tar
y_

Bo
un

da
ry_

20
21

06
09

.m
xd

Ma
p P

rod
uc

ed
 B

y: 
se

as
tw

oo
d O

n: 
09

/06
/20

21
 08

:58
 A

M

Dartford Parliamentary Boundary

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey 
map with the permission of the Controller
of Her Majestys Stationery Office
© Crown Copyright 2021
Unauthorised reproduction 
Infringes Crown Copyright and 
May lead to prosecution or civil
Proceedings
Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2021

Page 9 Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



P
age 11

A
genda Item

 6



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 12


	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 5 November 2020
	6 Review Of Parliamentary Constituencies 2023
	Appendix A _ Current Boundary
	Appendix B - Proposal


